#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

IN RE D.P.,	)	
A Person Coming Under	)	
the Juvenile Court Law	)	No. S267429
	)	
·	)	
LOS ANGELES COUNTY	)	Court of Appeal No.
DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN	)	B301135
AND FAMILY SERVICES,	)	
Plaintiff and Respondent,	)	Los Angeles No.
	)	19CCJP00973
v.	)	
	)	
T. P.	)	
Objector and Appellant.	)	

# APPELLANT T.P.'s OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After the Unpublished Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second District, Division Five, Filed February 10, 2020

> MEGAN TURKAT-SCHIRN (SBN 169044) 269 S. Beverly Drive, #193 Beverly Hills, CA 90212 schirn@sbcglobal.net (310)279-0003 Attorney for Appellant father, T.P.

## **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- (1) Is an appeal of a juvenile court's jurisdictional finding moot when a parent asserts that he or she has been or will be stigmatized by the finding?
- (2) Is an appeal of a juvenile court's jurisdictional finding moot when a parent asserts that he or she may be barred from challenging a current or future placement on the Child Abuse Central Index as a result of the finding?

/// ///

#### Introduction

At issue in this case is whether Appellant is entitled to the opportunity to clear his name after the court of appeal in an unpublished split decision dismissed his jurisdiction appeal as moot because dependency jurisdiction had terminated. In answering the question, this Court must determine whether an appeal is moot when it leaves the parent with the negative consequences of being labeled an abuser. Additionally, whether an appeal is moot where the jurisdictional finding could result in an erroneous listing in the Child Abuse Central Index (CACI) with no available procedure to seek removal of the listing. The prejudicial collateral consequences along with due process considerations compel this Court to answer both questions in the affirmative.

The critical factor in considering whether a dependency appeal is moot is whether the appellate court can provide any effective relief if it finds reversible error. (*In re Michelle M.* (1992) 8 Cal.App.4th 326, 328-329.) Effective relief can be provided by allowing a parent to challenge the stigmatizing label of child abuse since dismissal of the appeal operates as an affirmance of the underlying judgment or order. (*In re C.C.* (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1481, 1489; *Vander Zee v. Reno* (5th Cir.1996) 73 F.3d 1365, 1369 [a statement causes stigma if it is both false and implies that the plaintiff is guilty of serious wrongdoing].)

A parent's right to appeal a "judgment" in a juvenile dependency proceeding is an essential part of the due process protections afforded to parents to safeguard their interest in companionship, care, custody and management of their children. (In re B.G. (1974) 11 Cal.3d 679, 688.) These protections extend beyond jurisdiction where a parent seeks to clear their name. True name clearance can render an otherwise moot matter an ongoing controversy for which effective relief is possible. (People v. Delong (2002) 101 Cal.App.4th 482, 487 [Case was not moot for purposes of allowing defendant opportunity to clear her name of the stigma of criminality after completion of court ordered programs and probation conditions].) The stigma of child abuse is no less than that of criminality, and often the two overlap. (Behrens v. Regier, (11th Cir. 2005) 422 F.3d 1255, 1260 [no doubt verified child abuse allegations stigmatized plaintiff].)

The due process concerns raised by the stigma of being labeled a child abuser also have a practical negative consequence of inclusion in the Child Abuse Central Index. (Pen. Code, § 11170, subd. (a) ["The Department of Justice shall maintain an index of all reports of child abuse and severe neglect submitted pursuant to Section 11169."].) Moreover, an order dismissing the appeal as moot bars the parent from ever challenging inclusion in the index. (Pen. Code, § 11169, subds. (d) & (e).) Such an outcome violates due process rights to a meaningful hearing. (Ingrid E. v. Superior Court (1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 751, 756 ["It is axiomatic that due process guarantees apply to dependency proceedings"].)

An appellate court has discretion to resolve "an issue of broad public interest that is likely to recur." (In re N.S. (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 53, 59.) Both the stigma of being labeled a child abuser and an erroneous listing in a child abuse index are issues of broad public interest likely to recur. It is undisputed that no parent wants to be labeled a child abuser, and that the public is ill-served by the maintenance of a state child abuse index with erroneous listings. The child as well as the parent have a liberty interest in a stable family home, and both have an interest in the accurate and just resolution of the parent's appeal. (In re Sade C. (1996)13 Cal.4th 952, 987–989.) The state also has an interest in promoting the welfare of the child, securing a just appellate resolution, reducing procedural costs and burdens, and concluding the proceedings both fairly and expeditiously. (Id. at pp. 989–990.)

Therefore, this court should hold that an appeal is not moot when a parent seeks to clear their name from the adverse stigmatizing consequences of jurisdictional findings and due process requires permitting a parent the ability to challenge inclusion, or the potential inclusion, in a child abuse database.

// //

#### Statement of Facts/ Procedural History

A. Background And Request For Protective Custody
Warrant

When Respondent, the Los Angeles County Department of Children and Family Services ("DCFS" or "Department"), initiated these proceedings in 2019, mother and father were living with their two children B.P. (born November 2013) and D.P. (born December 2018), and maternal grandparents. (1 CT 1-3, 14.) <sup>1</sup> The family had no prior child welfare history, no criminal history, and no prior issues with mental health, substance use or domestic violence. (1 CT 19.) The parents have been married since 2005, when mother moved to the United States. (1 CT 14.) Mother worked as a Chinese teacher and at a Montessori Kindergarten. (1 CT 130.) Father worked as a driver. (1 CT 132.)

On February 8, 2019, Judge Rudolph Diaz denied Respondent's request for a protective custody warrant to remove the children from their parents' custody. (1 CT 11.) The request was based on an emergency referral received on February 6, 2019 that when D.P., was brought to the hospital by his parents for suspected pneumonia, a chest x-ray was taken that revealed possible viral bronchitis or pneumonia and an old, healing fractured rib. (1 CT 13-14, 44, 49, 51; 2 CT 341.) The parents were unaware of the fracture and had no explanation for its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "CT" refers to the Clerk's Transcript, which will be identified by Volume; "RT" refers to the Reporter's Transcript.

causation. (1 CT 14, 122.) The examining doctors suspected child abuse due to the nature of the injury and lack of explanation and contacted law enforcement. (1 CT 14.) D.P. was then transferred to Children's Hospital Los Angeles for a nonaccidental trauma evaluation and treatment for pneumonia. (2 CT 341.) He remained at Children's Hospital for five days, after which he was released to his parents, healthy and happy. (2 CT 327-328.)

As part of the Department's initial investigation, the social worker interviewed the minor B.P. in Mandarin and English at her elementary school. (1 CT 14.) B.P. reported mother and maternal grandmother have spanked her on the buttocks with a hand and a ruler "a long time ago" when she misbehaved, and she felt safe and happy at home. (1 CT 14.) The social worker also spoke to mother using a Mandarin interpreter. Mother had no idea what happened to D.P. (1 CT 14.) She had noticed his breathing was not good which was why she took him to the hospital. (1 CT 14-15.) She recalled that after she delivered him via c-section there was an incident at the hospital where a nurse assisted in changing his diaper in an "angry way" and that the child cried when this nurse changed his diaper. (1 CT 15.) Mother denied using corporal punishment and never hit her daughter with a ruler. (1 CT 15.)

On February 7, 2019, the social worker was informed by nurse practitioner that the child abuse evaluation Children's Hospital Los Angeles found no other trauma or injuries but could not exclude nonaccidental trauma because the parents had no explanation for the cause of the rib fracture. (1 CT 17, 64.)

#### B. Filing of Section 300 Petition

On February 13, 2019, Respondent filed a petition that alleged the B.P. and D.P. were subject to juvenile court jurisdiction pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code<sup>2</sup>, section 300, subdivisions (a), (b), and (j), due to then two-month old D.P. being medically examined and found to be suffering from a healing right posterior 7th rib facture for which the mother's explanation was inconsistent with the injury and the father has not provided an explanation, and that such injury would not occur but for deliberate, unreasonable and neglectful acts by the mother and father. (1 CT 1-4.) The petition also alleged physical abuse of B.P. by mother and maternal grandmother by striking the child's buttocks with a ruler and hand on prior occasions; that the neglectful acts as to D.P. and physical abuse of B.P., places the sibling at risk of harm, damage, and abuse. (1 CT 3-7.)

At the initial hearing on February 14, 2019, the juvenile court ordered the children to remain released to the parents and set the matter for a jurisdictional hearing. (1 CT 105.)

## C. Evidence in Support of Jurisdiction

As of the April 9, 2019 Jurisdiction/Disposition report, the children remained released to the parents with no further

 $<sup>^2\,\</sup>mathrm{All}$  statutory references are to the Welfare and Institutions Code, unless otherwise noted.

evidence of abuse or neglect. The parents were cooperative with DCFS and participating in pre-disposition services. (1 CT 117, 130.) B.P. responded "no" when asked by the social worker if she was ever hurt after being hit by mother and denied any physical abuse by anyone. (1 CT 125.)

Mother and father were enrolled in parenting and individual counseling. (1 CT 130-132; 2 CT 336, 390.) Mother told the social worker that since D.P. was born, they observed something wrong with him as he seemed to be in pain. (1 CRT 127.) She took him to two pediatricians, and they were not able to find what happened to him. (1 CT 128.) Mother then took D.P. to the emergency room for vomiting and breathing problems and was shocked to find out he had a healed fractured rib. (1 CT 128.) D.P. went to a follow up appointment two days after his release from the hospital and everything was fine. He now looks normal and does not seem to be in any pain. (1 CT 129.) Father did not know how D.P. had a rib fracture and had been very surprised to learn of the injury. (1 CT 129, 132-133.)

The social worker informed the parents that the Children's Hospital CARES team indicated that the fractured rib occurred at least 10 days from the day he was admitted to the hospital, and therefore not from when he was born two months ago. Mother the questioned the social worker whether it was possible that the doctor who examined D.P. in January 2019, may have caused the injury because she observed Dr. Lam use two fingers

to hit the baby's chest and mother thought Dr. Lam used a strong force for a baby when doing the physical exam because she heard a hitting sound. (2 CT 363-364.)

Law enforcement had interviewed the family and medical staff and was unable to determine if any of D.P.'s caretakers caused the injury. (1 CT 139.)

The Department recommended family maintenance services over voluntary services, and that the parents participate in individual counseling, parent education, family preservation services and maintain all medical appointments for the children. (1 CT 147-148; 2 CT 364, 469.) This recommendation was based on the conclusion of the CARES team at Children's Hospital Los Angeles that the rib fracture was not from D.P.'s recent illness or from his birth, and that the fracture "only happened" in the care of his parents' home. (1 CT 137.) The CARES team also noted that during his evaluation, D.P. was sleeping in mother's arms, easily arousable and appeared well nourished. (2 CT 283.) A skeletal survey revealed no additional fractures or abnormalities. (2 CT 284.)

As of the Last Minute Information for the Court dated July 12 and August 20, 2019, mother and father continued to attend family preservation, parenting and individual counseling. (2 CT 426, 428-434, 468-469.) Father's therapist reported that father demonstrated good insight and very good ability to parent young children. (2 CT 427.)

#### D. Expert Medical Evidence

#### 1. Dr. Karen Imagawa's February 11, 2019 Report

Dr. Imagawa, Director of the CARES center at Children's Hospital Los Angeles, found the lateral right 7th rib fracture was 2-3 weeks old from the time the x-ray was taken on February 6, 2019. (2 CT 363, 365-366.) A lateral rib fracture is caused by either significant compression of the chest or blunt force trauma. (2 CT 363, 365.) The rib fracture occurred between January 15 to February 6, 2019, while the child was in the care of his parents. (2 CT 364.) The proposed birth incident at the hospital was not an adequate explanation for the injury based on timing and mechanism. At this time no known witnessed trauma has been reported so non-accidental trauma remains a concern and cannot be excluded. (2 CT 363.)

## 2. Dr. Karen Imagawa's April 17, 2019 Report

Dr. Imagawa's final report noted that fractures are uncommon injuries in otherwise healthy infants and have a high degree of specificity for non-accidental/inflicted trauma. (2 CT 393, 396-399.) Such injuries are generally due to a significant compression of the chest from front to back on an unsupported back, such as occurs when forcefully grasping and severely squeezing the chest. (2 CT 398-399.) Lateral rib fractures can also result from a direct blow but are usually caused by compression. (2 CT 398.) Often with rib fractures there are no other signs of trauma such as bruising or swelling. A non-offending caregiver would not

necessarily know that the child's irritability was related to the rib and could attribute it to other causes. (2 CT 393.)

3. Dr. Karen Imagawa's summary of D.P.'s medical history

On December 27, 2018, D.P. was seen when 21 days old by primary care provider Dr. Wang due to concerns of vomiting milk after eating. The examination was unremarkable and feeding difficulties were diagnosed. Dr. Wang commented that an "all knowing, domineering maternal grandmother" was involved in the care of the child. (2 CT 396.)

On January 7, 2019, D.P. was seen by primary care provider Dr. Lam, for a check-up and vaccines.

On February 1, 2019, D.P. was taken back to Dr. Lam due to vomiting after feeding, crying and a cough and was diagnosed with an upper respiratory infection. (2 CT 396.)

On February 5, 2019, D.P. was taken to the emergency room for concerns of congestion and fever. (2 CT 396.) The examination noted no external signs of trauma, and a respiratory panel was positive for influenza and pneumonia. (2 CT 397.) A chest x-ray revealed a single healing 7th rib fracture and evidence of possible viral bronchitis. (2 CT 397.) The family reported no known history of trauma. (2 CT 397.)

During his hospitalization, D.P. was treated with Tamiflu and discharged home to his parents. Post discharge, he had a visit at the CARES clinic on February 21, 2019. He appeared well and was a well-nourished, well-developed and interactive infant. (2 CT 397.)

## 4. Dr. Thomas Grogan's May 22, 2019 Report

Dr. Grogan, a pediatric orthopedic surgeon, evaluated all of the medical records and the chest x-ray. (2 CT 423.) D.P. was seen at age two months for a viral like illness when a chest x-ray disclosed a solitary healing lateral 7th rib fracture with no other fractures or evidence of inflicted abuse. (2 CT 423.) If left untreated, this type of injury goes on to uneventful healing without deformity, dysfunction and certainly without death. This type of injury is typically from a compressive type of force. (2 CT 423.) It could be the result of someone picking up the child incorrectly and applying too much pressure to the chest. Even a small child or sibling could cause the fracture. (2 CT 423.) This type of fracture is not apparent to the caregiver who did not cause the injury. A caregiver would never realize the child had this facture unless an x-ray was performed. (2 CT 423.) Since there was no evidence of other inflicted trauma, this injury could be accidental in nature, but it cannot be ruled out it was done intentionally. (2 CT 424.)

## E. Jurisdiction and Disposition Hearing

On August 20 and September 20, 2019, the juvenile court heard testimony from Dr. Karen Imagawa, as an expert witness for DCFS, and Dr. Thomas Grogan, as an expert witness for the parents. (1 RT 59, 81; 2 CT 478-479, 481.) The Department argued to sustain the petition as to B.P. and D.P. as to physical abuse and medical neglect or intentional injury. (1 RT 94.)

Counsel for the minors and parents argued to dismiss the petition. (1 RT 97-103.)

#### 1. Testimony of Dr. Karen Imagawa

Dr. Imagawa is employed at Children's Hospital and trains other doctors in child abuse cases. (1 RT 58.) She looked at the medical records for the minor D.P. who presented with a healing lateral 7th right rib fracture. (1 RT 60-61.) This type of injury is from compression or blunt force trauma. (1 RT 61.) A rib fracture in a two-month old would not occur from normal daily handling an otherwise healthy child. (1 RT 61, 65.) The only explanation by the parents she was aware of was the diaper changing incident when the child was born. (1 RT 63.) The pediatric radiologist felt that the fracture occurred within a two to three week time frame which ruled out that the injury could be from the date of birth. (1 RT 64.)

Holding the child a little tighter would not cause the fracture. It would have to be really significant compression. (1 RT 67.) It would be more force than squishing an empty soda can. (1 RT 67.) Given that there was no accidental mechanism that has been provided, the injury appears to have been intentional. (1 RT 69.) Often with squeezing the child you will see a posterior rib fracture, depending on how the patient is being held and the pressure put on certain areas. With lateral rib fractures it can also be from blunt force trauma. (1 RT 71.) A person handling the baby would not notice that the baby is crying because of a rib fracture. (1 RT 69.) A parent could not know the child has a rib

fracture. (1 RT 74.) The person that broke the rib would probably know that it was broken. (1 RT 74.)

When the child came back for follow up, the nurse practitioner felt the family was interacting well with the baby and had appropriate questions. (1 RT 75.)

#### 2. Testimony of Dr. Thomas Grogan

Dr. Grogan has been on the faculty in UCLA for the last 15 years. (1 RT 80-81.) He reviewed the medical records and Dr. Imagawa's report dated April 17, 2019. (1 RT 82.) The specific injury was a healing rib fracture of the right slightly posterior lateral 7th rib. (1 RT 83.) The fracture probably occurred two to three weeks before the x-ray was taken, so the child was slightly smaller at that age. The fracture was caused by blunt-type trauma. It would take 40 and 50 newtons of force, about the same amount of force or energy required to crush a soda can. (1 RT 84.) There was no evidence of any other injury. (1 RT 84.) The solitary healing rib fracture injury was identified in the chest x-ray taken for pneumonia. (1 RT 84.)

In his opinion, the cause of the injury was lateral compression, someone picking the child up and compressing the two sides together. (1 RT 85.) The injury could have occurred unintentionally by someone picking up the baby and grasping too tight because perhaps the baby was slipping. (1 RT 86-87, 91.) Anybody lifting the child up inappropriately could apply the hoop stress. (1 RT 92.) Someone who was not around at the time of the injury would not notice any evidence of any injury. There is no

bruising. (1 RT 86.) This injury would heal on its own. It was healed when it was first observed. It would be pure, uneventful healing. (1 RT 86.)

A child suffering from pneumonia could potentially suffer such an injury from coughing but in this case, the pneumonia was new, and the fracture was at least two weeks old. (1 RT 89.) The injury was probably a lateral compression. (1 RT 90.) Typically in inflicted intentional trauma you see multiple posterior rib fractures. (1 RT 93.)

#### 3. Court Orders

The juvenile court dismissed the petition as to the minor B.P. with prejudice for insufficient evidence. (1 RT 113-117; 2 CT 482.) As to the minor D.P., the juvenile court sustained a single count B-1 (failure to protect) as amended with the finding that there was at most a "possible neglectful act" and striking the words "deliberate" and "unreasonable" from the petition. (1 RT 121.) The juvenile court dismissed all other counts, finding insufficient evidence to jurisdiction under support subdivision (a) and (j). (1 RT 113, 120; 2 CT 483.)

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