S267429

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

In re D.P., A Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law.

### THE LOS ANGELES COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

Т.Р.,

Defendant and Appellant.

From an Unpublished Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. B301135 Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. 19CCJP00973 On Appeal from the Superior Court of Los Angeles County Honorable Craig S. Barnes, Judge Presiding

### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

### Argument

### I. Standard of Review.

Questions of law that do not involve resolution of disputed facts are subject to de novo review. (*Jose O. v. Superior Court* (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 703, 706.) Father acknowledges that the factual bases for the challenged jurisdictional count are undisputed. (Appellant's Opening Brief on the Merits (BOM), 29-30.)

### II. The Mootness Doctrine.

The duty of this court, as of every other judicial tribunal, is to decide actual controversies by a judgment which can be carried into effect, and not to give opinions upon moot questions or abstract propositions, or to declare principles or rules of law which cannot affect the matter in issue in the case before it. It necessarily follows that when, pending an appeal from the judgment of a lower court, and without any fault of the defendant, an event occurs which renders it impossible for this court, if it should decide the case in favor of the plaintiff, to grant him any effectual relief whatever, the court will not proceed to a formal judgment, but will dismiss the appeal.

(*Mills v. Green* (1895) 159 U.S. 651, 653.) This language was adopted by California's Supreme Court in *Consolidated Vultee Aircraft Corp. v. United Auto. etc. Workers* (1946) 27 Cal.2d 859, 863. Therefore, "an action that originally was based on a justiciable controversy cannot be maintained on appeal if all the questions have become moot by subsequent acts or events. A reversal would be without practical effect, and the appeal will therefore be dismissed." (13 Witkin, Cal. Proc. (5th ed. 2019) Appeal, § 749.)

## III. The Function of Courts is to Decide Actual Controversies Between Parties, Not Issue Opinions as to Moot Questions or Abstract Propositions.

Courts of Appeal have routinely held they have discretion to consider the merits of appeals that fail to raise a justiciable controversy and appeals that are originally based on a justiciable controversy but have become moot by subsequent acts or events. (*In re Nathan E.* (2021) 61 Cal.App.5th 114, 121; *In re N.S.* (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 53, 59; *In re Drake M.* (2012) 211 Cal.App.4th 754, 762-763; *In re I.A.* (2011) 201 Cal.App.4th 1484, 1491-1492; *In re D.C.* (2011) 195 Cal.App.4th 1010, 1015; *In re C.C.* (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1481.) However, the doctrines of mootness and justiciable controversy leave no room for discretion to review moot questions or abstract propositions, or to declare principles or rules of law which cannot affect the matter in issue in the case before it just because it may disagree with the lower court's decision. (*Costa Serena Owners Coalition v. Costa Serena Architectural Com.* (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 1175, 1205-1206.)

There are three situations that have been characterized as "exceptions" to the general rule that a moot appeal must be dismissed: "when there remain 'material questions for the court's determination,' where a 'pending case poses an issue of broad public interest that is likely to recur, or where 'there is a likelihood of recurrence of the controversy between the same parties or others." (*In re N.S., supra,* 245 Cal.App.4th at p. 59, internal citations omitted; see also *Grier v. Alameda-Contra*  *Costa Transit Dist.* (1976) 55 Cal.App.3d 325, 330.) In the dependency context it has been held that a Court of Appeal has discretion to reach the merits of an appeal not presenting a justiciable controversy when, (1) the jurisdictional finding serves as the basis for dispositional orders that are also challenged on appeal; (2) the findings could be prejudicial to the appellant or could impact the current or any future dependency proceedings; and (3) the finding could have consequences for the appellant beyond jurisdiction. (*In re Drake M., supra*, 211 Cal.App.4th at pp. 762-763.)

However, by definition, a "moot appeal" is one that does not involve an "actual controversy" for which practical and effective relief that will impact the appellant's rights or interests, can be granted. (*Mills v. Green, supra* 159 U.S. at p. 653.) Therefore, it appears that all but one of the so called "exceptions" are actually situations where there remain material issues affecting the rights of the parties that need to be resolved. (See, *e.g., Eye Dog Foundation v. State Board of Guide Dogs for the Blind* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 536, 541 ["[T]he general rule governing mootness becomes subject to the case-recognized qualification that an appeal will not be dismissed where, despite the happening of the subsequent event, there remain material questions for the court's determination."]; 13 Witkin, Cal. Proc. (5th ed. 2019) Appeal, § 757 ["If any material question remains to be determined, the case is not entirely moot, and the appeal will not be dismissed."].)

The only "exception" that allows a Court of Appeal to reach the merits of the appeal when no effective or practical relief can be granted the appellant directly, is where the appeal involves an issue of broad public interest that will escape review. (13 Witkin, Cal. Proc. (5th ed. 2019) Appeal, § 759.) As this Court explained, questions of general public interest do not become moot because subsequent events prevent the Court from granting effective and practical relief for the appellant. (*In re William M.* (1970) 3 Cal.3d 16, 23.)

In his Introduction, Father states that, "Both the stigma of being labeled a child abuser and an erroneous listing in a child abuse index are issues of broad public interest likely to recur." (BOM 14.)<sup>10</sup> However, he does not thereafter advance that contention in his Argument section or otherwise explain how his being stigmatized by a juvenile court's jurisdictional finding affects the general public. (BOM 27-57; see 13 Witkin, Cal. Proc. (5th ed. 2019) Appeal, § 759.) He has therefore forfeited the contention. (*People v. Stanley* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 764, 793 [holding that, when an appellant makes a general assertion, unsupported by specific argument he forfeits the issue].)

Indeed, citing *In re I.A., supra*, 201 Cal.App.4th at p. 1484, in his Argument section, Father acknowledges that to avoid dismissal for mootness, he must identify a specific legal or practical consequence from the challenged jurisdictional finding, either within or outside the dependency proceedings. (*Id.* at p. 1493; see BOM 28.) He then restates the rule that "Courts also have discretion to resolve appeals that are technically moot if

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> As shown below, there was no CACI report.

they present important questions affecting the public interest that are capable of repetition yet evade review." (BOM 28.) But he then follows that with the statement: "The pivotal question in determining if a case is moot is whether the court can grant the plaintiff any effectual relief." (*Ibid.*) Father, therefore, acknowledges that his appeal should be dismissed as moot if he cannot be granted any effectual relief. He does not, thereafter, revisit the issue or claim the stigma he allegedly suffers affects the general public or will escape review. (BOM 28-57.)<sup>11</sup>

The basis for the rule that to avoid dismissal for mootness, an appellant must identify a specific legal or practical consequence to himself from the challenged jurisdictional finding, is the requirement that to maintain an appeal, an appellant must be an "aggrieved party." (Code Civ. Proc. § 902.) "An aggrieved person . . . is one whose rights or interests are injuriously affected by the decision in an immediate and substantial way, and not as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Neither this Court nor Father has identified as an issue to be resolved here; whether the termination of juvenile court jurisdiction resulting from a parent's successful completion of a section 360, subdivision (b) disposition should prevent the parent from challenging the predicate jurisdictional finding? The answer to such question should be in the negative. However, the appropriate procedure for such challenge would be a Petition for Extraordinary Writ. (*Varney v. Superior Court* (1992) 10 Cal.App.4th 1092, 1098.) Furthermore, within that process, the parent still would be required to show a specific legal or practical consequence from the challenged jurisdictional finding, either within or outside the dependency proceedings. (*In re K.C.* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 231, 236; *Costco Wholesale Corp. v. Superior Court* (2009) 47 Cal.4th 725, 740-741; *In re I.A., supra*, 201 Cal.App.4th at p. 1484.)

a nominal or remote consequence of the decision." (*In re K.C.*, *supra*, 52 Cal.4th at p. 236.) Therefore, to avoid dismissal for mootness, Father was required to show the challenged jurisdictional count injuriously affected his rights or interest in an immediate and substantial way. The mere assertion of a speculative future harm is insufficient. (*In re I.A.*, *supra*, 201 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1494-1495; compare with *In re Nathan E*. (2021) 61 Cal.App.5th 114 (*Nathan E.*); *In re M.W.* (2015) 238 Cal.App.4th 1444; *In re C.C.*, *supra*, 172 Cal.App.4th at p. 1481.)

In Nathan E. the Court of Appeal allowed the mother to escape dismissal for mootness based merely on the mother's assertion that the jurisdictional findings "may impact any possible future dependency proceeding involving these or any children mother may have in the future." (Nathan E., supra, 61 Cal.App.5th at p. 121.) The Court acknowledged that the mother's argument assumed there would be future dependency proceedings and found she offered no specific harm that the sustained jurisdictional and dispositional findings may bring her. (*Ibid.*)

In *In re M.W.*, the mother did not challenge all of the jurisdictional findings and acknowledged that juvenile court jurisdiction would continue even if her appeal were successful. (*In re M.W., supra.* 238 Cal.App.4th at p. 1452.) In response to an argument that mother failed to raise a justiciable controversy, the Court of Appeal found it had discretion to review the merits of the appeal, in part, because the challenged finding, "that mother knowingly or negligently exposed her children to a

substantial risk of physical and sexual abuse are *pernicious*. The finding in count d-2 (that mother failed to protect the children from a substantial risk of sexual abuse) carries a *particular stigma*." (*Ibid*, italics added.) Merriam Webster defines "pernicious" as, "causing great harm or damage often in a way that is not easily seen or noticed[.]" (<u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/pernicious#learn-more</u>.) The very definition of the word raises no more than the mere specter of a possible future harm, which should be deemed insufficient to allow merit review. (*In re I.A., supra*, 201 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1494-1495.)

In *In re C.C.*, the mother appealed the juvenile court's finding that continued visitation would be detrimental to C.C. (*In re C.C., supra*, 172 Cal.App.4th at p. 1488.) While the appeal was pending, the juvenile court terminated its jurisdiction with a family law order that reinstated the mother's monitored visitation. (*Ibid.*) The Court of Appeal invited briefing on the issue of mootness. DCFS argued the appeal had been rendered moot. The mother agreed the issues raised on appeal were moot, but asked the Court to reach the merits of the appeal because of a possibility she might be prejudiced by the court's finding of detriment and order terminating visitation in some collateral proceeding. (*Ibid.*)

The *In re C.C.* Court of Appeal found that the juvenile court granted appellant the relief she sought on appeal thereby rendering her appeal "doubly moot[,]" and that her concerns of prejudice in a future family law proceedings were "highly speculative." (*Id.* at p. 1489.) However, the Court, "in an abundance of caution, and because dismissal of the appeal operates as an affirmance of the underlying judgment or order" exercised its "discretion" to reach the merits of the moot appeal for which it could provide the mother no effective or practical relief. (*Id.* at pp. 1491-1492.) The Court ultimately found the juvenile court had used an improper standard when it found visitation would be harmful to C.C., and reversed a visitation order that no longer existed. (*Id.* at p. 1493; see *Costa Serena Owners Coalition v. Costa Serena Architectural Com.* (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 1175, 1205-1206 [holding that when the judgment the appellant seeks to have vacated is no longer effective, the appeal must be dismissed].)

The problem with these cases is that they allow a parent to maintain a moot appeal even though the appellant is no longer an aggrieved party, which is what Father is doing here. (Code of Civ. Proc. § 902; *In re K.C., supra*, 52 Cal.4th at p. 236.) Citing to *Nathan E., supra*, 61 Cal.App.5th at p. 114, Father argues that his mere assertion of a future unspecified stigma is sufficient to avoid dismissal even though the existence of the stigma is speculative. (BOM 31.)

DCFS does not contend that a lingering jurisdictional finding can never be detrimental to a parent in the future nor that a jurisdictional finding could never result in a stigma that could injure a parent's rights or interests "in an immediate and substantial way, and not as a nominal or remote consequence of the decision." (*In re K.C., supra,* 52 Cal.4th at p. 236.) However, the detriment, whether in the form of a stigma or otherwise, must be a realistic and concrete detriment that can be articulated and would result in the parent being sufficiently aggrieved to have standing to maintain the appeal. To hold otherwise would be to disembowel the doctrines of mootness and justiciable controversy, because anyone can assert that something may happen in the future. Indeed, the *Nathan E*. Court of Appeal reached the merits of a moot appeal merely on the parent's assertion that the jurisdictional findings *may* impact a nonexistent dependency proceeding involving children yet to be born. (*Nathan E., supra*, 61 Cal.App.5th at p. 121.)

Therefore, based on longstanding case law regarding mootness and justiciable controversy, the answer to the presented issues is that a parent must do more than assert a speculative and nebulous potential harm or stigma to avoid dismissal of a moot appeal. Father has not done so here. Accordingly, the Opinion should be affirmed.

IV. Father's Claim That The Dismissal Of His Appeal Bars Him From Challenging A Current Or Future Placement On The CACI Lacks Merit Because The Record Shows The Initial Referral Was Not Substantiated And DCFS Policy Prohibited Reporting Referrals Alleging Only General Neglect.

#### A. DCFS's CACI Reporting Requirements.

California's Child Abuse and Neglect Reporting Act (CANRA) was enacted "to protect children from abuse and neglect." (Penal Code<sup>12</sup> § 11164, subd. (b).) The CANRA requires DCFS to forward to the Department of Justice (DOJ) "a report in writing of every case it investigates of known or suspected child abuse or severe neglect that is determined to be substantiated, other than cases coming within subdivision (b) of Section 11165.2." (§ 11169, subd. (a).)

The CANRA defines "child abuse or neglect" to include "physical injury or death inflicted by other than accidental means upon a child by another person, sexual abuse as defined in Section 11165.1, neglect as defined in Section 11165.2, the willful harming or injuring of a child or the endangering of the person or health of a child, as defined in Section 11165.3, and unlawful corporal punishment or injury as defined in Section 11165.4." (§ 11165.6, subd. (a).)

"Severe neglect," "means the negligent failure of a person having the care or custody of a child to protect the child from severe malnutrition or medically diagnosed nonorganic failure to thrive. 'Severe neglect' also means those situations of neglect where any person having the care or custody of a child willfully causes or permits the person or health of the child to be placed in a situation such that his or her person or health is endangered, as proscribed by Section 11165.3, including the intentional failure to provide adequate food, clothing, shelter, or medical care." (§ 11165.2, subd. (a).)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Now, all future statutory references shall be to this code unless otherwise indicated.

The CANRA provides for three levels of reports;

unfounded, substantiated, and inconclusive;

"Unfounded report" means a report that is determined by the investigator who conducted the investigation to be false, to be inherently improbable, to involve an accidental injury, or not to constitute child abuse or neglect, as defined in Section 11165.6.

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